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          1  COMMITTEE ON RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All

          3  right, folks, the Council's Committee on Rules,

          4  Privileges and Elections is in order. My name is

          5  Archie Spigner, a member of this Committee, and

          6  chairing for the absent chair, Council Member Morton

          7  Povman.

          8                 Today the Council Rules and

          9  Privileges Committee will consider appointments to

         10  the New York City Board of Elections.

         11                 The Board of Elections within the

         12  City of New York consists of ten members appointed

         13  by the Council, pursuant to Section 3-200, 202 and

         14  204 of Election Law, said members designated to the

         15  Council by the county committees of the major

         16  political parties of each respective borough or by

         17  such other committees as the rules of the party

         18  provides in the City of New York for four-year

         19  terms.

         20                 When the Council does not appoint

         21  within 60 days of the filing of the designating

         22  certificate from the county committee, then the

         23  county committee may designate another person. If 30

         24  days pass and no person is designated, then the

         25  member, the members of the Council may appoint an
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          2  eligible person to this office.

          3                 Vacancies which occur in the term are

          4  filled for the remainder of the unexpired term in

          5  the same manner in which the original appointments

          6  are made.

          7                 Pursuant to Section 3-208 of the

          8  Statute as last amended by Chapter 147 of the laws

          9  of 1980, Commissioners receive an annual salary of

         10  $125 for each day's attendance at meetings, with the

         11  maximum of $12,500 per year.

         12                 The responsibility of the Board of

         13  Election and its commissioners include the

         14  maintenance and administration of voting records,

         15  and elections incorporating the quasi judicial

         16  functions of scrutinizing petitions of candidates

         17  for nomination to elective office.

         18                 The names of the following

         19  individuals have been recommended for a four-year

         20  term, which will expire on December 31st, 2004.

         21  Weyman Carey, as Democrat of Kings County; Mark

         22  Herman, as Democrat of Richmond County; Douglas A.

         23  Kellner, as Democrat of New York County; Crystal N.

         24  Paris, as Democrat of Bronx County, and Nancy

         25  Shacher, as Republican of Kings County.
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          1  COMMITTEE ON RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 So, members of the Committee, that is

          3  what is before us today, so, let's begin by having

          4  appear before us in the order in which I named them,

          5  starting with Mr. Carey.

          6                 Mr. Carey, do you have any statement

          7  you want to make to the Board?

          8                 MR. CAREY: Good morning.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: To the

         10  Council. I said to the Board.

         11                 MR. CAREY: I understand.

         12                 Good morning, and it is indeed a

         13  pleasure for me to be before you again after four

         14  years of a lapse. Hopefully when all of the

         15  information comes out I will be ruled upon

         16  favorably.

         17                 I look forward to serving Kings

         18  County again and I look forward to working with each

         19  and every one of you here in the Council.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: How long

         22  have you been on the Board?

         23                 MR. CAREY: Seven years, to be exact.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Seven

         25  years. And in your seven years, Commissioner, how do
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          2  you rate the experience in the November election

          3  with those that had preceded it? Was it as usual?

          4  Was it more troublesome? Was it improved?

          5                 MR. CAREY: Well, this year we had a

          6  number, if you are referring to Kings County.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Kings

          8  County specifically.

          9                 MR. CAREY: Okay. In Kings County we

         10  had a number of problems with emergency ballots,

         11  some of the machines broke down, and as a result of

         12  it a number of these emergency ballots had to be

         13  filled out. Some of the people had to be

         14  disenfranchised because not being able to use the

         15  machines, they walked away.

         16                 So, I would think overall, overall

         17  the election went well, but for certain areas

         18  specifically, the 50th and the 52nd Assembly

         19  District.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Someone

         21  told me, I don't know whether it was just a rumor or

         22  I don't know whether I read it some place or I heard

         23  it some place, that almost an unusually large number

         24  of affidavit ballots had to be used because of

         25  broken machines or missing names; is that a fact?
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          2                 MR. CAREY: Somewhat.

          3                 But let me explain to you exactly

          4  what happened. In the two districts, semi-districts

          5  that I just mentioned, the 50th and the 52nd, which

          6  is Joan Millman and Sona Menlentol (phonetic), and

          7  the 50th AD there was 4,780 emergency ballots.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER:

          9  Four-thousand?

         10                 MR. CAREY: Yes. Four-thousand

         11  seven-hundred and eighty emergency ballots.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: In one

         13  assembly district?

         14                 MR. CAREY: In one assembly district.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: What was

         16  the total vote?

         17                 MR. CAREY: That information is being

         18  forwarded to me now. I was supposed to pick it up,

         19  but, unfortunately, I haven't been able to get it.

         20  But as soon as I receive it, I will put it into the

         21  record.

         22                 And in the 52nd there was 3,000 and

         23  change, so for those two particular districts, there

         24  was 8,000 emergency ballots. And the reason for that

         25  is that we narrowed it down to the technicians who
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          2  worked on those machines. Last week we had a hearing

          3  and we narrowed it down to find out that the

          4  technicians that were working on the machines failed

          5  to operate the machine properly when they went to

          6  their maintenance program, and as a result of it the

          7  machines went out faulty. And we had like from one

          8  to 32 lines going down, and apparently what happened

          9  was the pins and the comps were not in place

         10  properly and when they got down to line 19, 20 and

         11  21, they worked in conjunction as one vote as

         12  opposed to three separate votes. So, when it got

         13  down to line 18, you couldn't go below that line,

         14  and we found that apparently the technician who did

         15  the work on the machine did not follow the proper

         16  sequence and come all the way down, and that's

         17  exactly what happened.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So those

         19  machines can be repaired and function properly?

         20                 MR. CAREY: That's correct.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, I

         22  won't ask you about the machines, that's another

         23  hearing, but those machines have been with us for a

         24  long time, and just based on what I see going

         25  around, I think they are going to be with us for
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          2  some time to come.

          3                 You wanted to respond to that, sir?

          4                 MR. CAREY: Well, what we are trying

          5  to do right now, the Commissioners are looking into

          6  trying to get different machines that would be able

          7  to replace the shoot machines that we have now. The

          8  problem we are finding is that because these are

          9  electronic machines, and they use computer chips,

         10  our biggest fear is that someone might be able to

         11  put to put in a trojan horse --

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You mean

         13  the replacement machines?

         14                 MR. CAREY: Right.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Hopefully

         16  we will be able to do something in 2001.

         17                 MR. CAREY: Right.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

         19  Member Chairman Berman.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BERMAN: Good morning,

         21  Mr. Carey. Good seeing you again.

         22                 MR. CAREY: Good morning.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BERMAN: In looking

         24  over the report, there was an issue of the late

         25  filing or the nonfiling of certain City, State and
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          2  Federal Tax Returns, I just  want to know as to

          3  whether or not they have been since filed?

          4                 MR. CAREY: Everything has been filed.

          5  As a matter of fact, I was speaking with the

          6  investigator from the oversight and strange as it

          7  may be is that I had my records showing that I

          8  filed, they claimed that there was no indication

          9  that I filed it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BERMAN: Do you have

         11  receipts or copies?

         12                 MR. CAREY: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BERMAN: All right.

         14  Then would you produce that to our oversight

         15  committee?

         16                 MR. CAREY: I believe he already has

         17  it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BERMAN: All right,

         19  fine.

         20                 MR. CAREY: Mr. Goldstein.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BERMAN: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Spigner.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Any other

         25  questions from Mr. Carey?
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Carey.

          3                 We now have Mark Herman, as Democrat

          4  of Richmond County.

          5                 Mr. Herman, if you will identify

          6  yourself.

          7                 MR. HERMAN: Yes. My name is Mark

          8  Herman.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And any

         10  statements you want to make regarding your

         11  candidacy?

         12                 MR. HERMAN: I don't have a prepared

         13  statement. I think you have my resume, and I am

         14  prepared to answer any questions.

         15                 I want you to know that I am a rookie

         16  here on the Board of Elections, if you should

         17  approve me, but I am not a rookie to politics or

         18  elections or the Board of Elections or the process.

         19                 I feel flattered that I was nominated

         20  to this position, especially in this time, what's

         21  going on in how close this past election was in the

         22  country and how important people to serve as

         23  commissioners or trustees or overseers of elections,

         24  how important it is for integrity and an

         25  understanding of what is going on and I will be

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            12

          1  COMMITTEE ON RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  happy to serve at your pleasure.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

          4  Members of the Committee, I assume you have had an

          5  opportunity to review the report from Oversight and

          6  Investigations Committee? Are there any questions

          7  from any member of this Committee?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: I would

          9  like to say a few words, Mr. Chairman.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Identify

         11  yourself -- oh, Council Member O'Donovan, Chair of

         12  our Economic Development Committee.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: Council

         14  Member O'Donovan, everybody.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: From

         16  Staten Island.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: And

         18  obviously we all have read the hearing booklet on

         19  all of our candidates, and Mr. Herman certainly

         20  comes with a well rounded worldly approach to his

         21  life. He was in the United States Army, was visiting

         22  Olympics all over the world through his travels, so

         23  a well rounded, highly educated person.

         24                 I do believe that is qualifications

         25  are self-evident, if you look at his political
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          2  resume, and his experience in dealing with petition

          3  drives, experience in the politics of politics, and

          4  the experience of working with the electorate, his

          5  constituents and no matter what it is, he is honest,

          6  sincere and forthright. And, so, I believe, that as

          7  my candidate he is well qualified and I welcome him

          8  to City Hall and I welcome him as Staten Island's

          9  newest commissioner of the Board of Elections.

         10                 MR. HERMAN: Thank you, Councilman.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Does any

         12  other Council member have a question?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: I make one

         14  more observation. Mr. Herman is renown in tradition

         15  of wearing a hat. When I walked in I didn't

         16  recognize him because he didn't have his hat on.

         17  However, good luck to you, Mr. Herman, and God bless

         18  you.

         19                 MR. HERMAN:

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         21  you, Mr. Herman.

         22                 Now we have Mr. Douglas A. Kellner,

         23  Democrat of New York County.

         24                 MR. KELLNER: Thank you, Mr. Spigner.

         25                 I have served as Commissioner for
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          2  eight years now, and I want to just thank the City

          3  Council for at least paying some attention for the

          4  Board of Elections over the years. My term started

          5  at the same time as our current Mayor's, and when I

          6  started the Board of Elections head of staff of 349,

          7  in his first budget the Mayor had proposed very

          8  substantial reductions, that reduced the Board's

          9  staff to 312, and in each year following that, the

         10  Mayor continued to recommend very severe reductions

         11  in staffing at the Board of Elections, and the

         12  Council has rejected those proposals in each of

         13  those years, so that at least the Board of Elections

         14  has been able to stay even with where it has been

         15  since 1994.

         16                 But many of the problems that we face

         17  in election administration in New York City are

         18  directly related to a lack of commitment to run a

         19  first class election operation.

         20                 So, for example, for our voting

         21  machines, there is nothing inherently wrong with the

         22  current lever machines, but if you don't service

         23  them and maintain them, just like a brand new

         24  Jaguar, if you don't change the oil every couple of

         25  months, in a few years your Jaguar is going to be
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          2  run down and isn't going to operate properly.

          3                 With our voting machines you have to

          4  maintain them, you have to have competent

          5  technicians in order to set them up for each

          6  election, and if you don't make a commitment to do

          7  that, then you are going to have problems each year.

          8                 For example, the Board of Elections

          9  only pays its technicians a salary of $21,000 a

         10  year. It is really not enough to attract skilled

         11  competent people that you are going to be able to

         12  hold accountable.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Attract

         14  and maintain.

         15                 MR. KELLNER: That's right. So, it's a

         16  serious problem.

         17                 I am sure we all know the problem

         18  with recruiting enough inspectors on Election Day.

         19  We have a 16-hour day, it starts at 5:30 in the

         20  morning, and doesn't end until 9:30 at night, and we

         21  pay them $130. It is not enough to recruit the

         22  26,000 people that we need to serve as election

         23  inspectors throughout New York City.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr.

         25  Kellner, there was a time in my lifetime when we
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          2  paid $15 for that same 16-hour day and we had no

          3  difficulty in recruiting.

          4                 MR. KELLNER: Archie, they also used

          5  trollies in those days.

          6                 And the subway was a nickel.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What's the

          8  present value of that $15? You will find it is a lot

          9  more. They only paid $15 when we worked at a law

         10  firm, now they pay them $130,000.

         11                 MR. KELLNER: But these things are all

         12  worth paying attention to.

         13                 With respect to voting machines, our

         14  current machines could be made to operate well, but

         15  there are problems. The Board is proposing in its

         16  budget this year that there be funding set aside to

         17  set up a task force to examine alternative

         18  technologies, and there are other technologies out

         19  there. I am not committed to going to different

         20  technologies just for the sake of using something

         21  different, but right now there is nobody on staff

         22  who is even looking at this problem, because there

         23  is no money there to hire somebody who can develop

         24  the expertise to examine these.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr.
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          2  Kellner, if I may? There was an ongoing committee

          3  that at one time was reviewing the various machines

          4  and options, what ever happened to that committee?

          5                 MR. KELLNER: Well, Councilman, just

          6  to --

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: There

          8  were hearings held by the Board itself.

          9                 MR. KELLNER: Well, to refresh your

         10  recollection that the City enter into a $60 million

         11  contract to buy electronic voting machines, and I

         12  led the opposition to that contract even after the

         13  contract had been signed because the technology that

         14  they were bringing in while being user-friendly

         15  would have looked great to the voter, would have

         16  resulted in having all 7,000 machines in New York

         17  City programmed by just two individuals with no way

         18  that anyone in this room, commissioner, or Council

         19  Member or anyone in the public, could tell whether

         20  or not the machines had been programmed in such a

         21  way so that the vote was being recorded the way the

         22  voter actually cast it. And with that kind of

         23  security problem, it is akin to saying to the two

         24  computer programmers, you take all of the ballots

         25  into a room by yourselves, count the ballots, come
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          2  back and tell us how it came out, and we wouldn't

          3  accept that. And fortunately the commissioners took

          4  a firm line insisting that Sequoia Pacific provide

          5  adequate security for the machines and when they

          6  didn't do that it went into litigation, and just

          7  this summer the litigation was resolved and the

          8  contract has been cancelled.

          9                 Now that that contract has been

         10  cancelled, it's appropriate to reopen the issue and

         11  see what is the best technology, including the

         12  option of doing what the City of Boston does, and

         13  that is continuing the lever machines forever. But

         14  if we are going to continue the lever machines then

         15  we have to make a commitment to maintain them and

         16  have adequate staffing of trained people who know

         17  how to set them up so that we don't repeat, you

         18  know, what I would regard as a fiasco in these two

         19  assembly districts in Brooklyn where more than 15

         20  percent of the voters had to vote on paper because

         21  the machines weren't set up properly.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         23  you.

         24                 Are you the Chair of the Board

         25  currently?
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          2                 MR. KELLNER: No. Right now

          3  Commissioner Carey is the President.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

          5  Member Michels has a question.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I just

          7  wanted to state that Manhattan is very proud of

          8  having Douglas Kellner represented. Douglas, as the

          9  former law chairman of the County of New York is one

         10  of the most knowledgeable people, I am sure the

         11  people, whether they agree with him or disagree with

         12  him on the board, you would have to admit that he is

         13  certainly one of the most knowledgeable, if not the

         14  most knowledgeable person on the Board of Elections,

         15  as far as the intricacies and the techniques of the

         16  Board of Elections.

         17                 I, for one, am very grateful that

         18  that Sequoia contract was cancelled. I think a lot

         19  of it goes to a credit to you that it was cancelled,

         20  or else we would have found ourselves similar to the

         21  finding in Florida with that cheap machine.

         22                 One of the problems also was the

         23  back-up, the back-up as to how they voted or

         24  actually voted, and these electronic machines are

         25  dependent on whether that machine was on
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          2  electronics, as opposed to mechanics, as we have

          3  now.

          4                 Now, is it true that they are not

          5  manufacturing the machine that we use right now?

          6                 MR. KELLNER: That's true, that they

          7  are not manufacturing those machines, although there

          8  is an ample supply, that if you wanted to buy more

          9  of them we could.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And what

         11  machine does Boston use? Do they use the same

         12  machine that we use?

         13                 MR. KELLNER: No, they use an even

         14  older version of the lever machine.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So we have

         16  been buying up the machines of those people who have

         17  been buying these other types of machines?

         18                 MR. KELLNER: Well, not recently. But

         19  ten years ago we did buy a substantial number of

         20  additional machines.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You say there

         22  is ample supply, where is the ample supply?

         23                 MR. KELLNER: Well, there is a company

         24  that is called International Election Systems, which

         25  provides spare parts to these machines, and will
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          2  sell fully refurbished machines with guarantees for

          3  $3,000 per machine.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: In your

          5  opinion, is there any machine out there that is

          6  foolproof?

          7                 MR. KELLNER: Sure. There are

          8  technologies that are worth looking at. For example,

          9  in suburban Massachusetts, and in many other

         10  counties throughout the country, the

         11  state-of-the-art technology is in optical scanning

         12  where the voter votes on a paper ballot at the poll

         13  site, puts, at the poll site puts the ballot into

         14  the scanner. The scanner accepts the ballot if the

         15  ballot is properly completed and holds onto the

         16  ballot. If the ballot has an error in it, for

         17  example, an office has not been voted, or there was

         18  a double vote for an office, the scanner immediately

         19  rejects the ballot and the voter can then replace

         20  that ballot with a proper ballot, and then those

         21  scanning machines also electronically tabulate the

         22  vote so that the vote total can be reported to the

         23  central count site very quickly.

         24                 All at the same time you are

         25  retaining a paper ballot audit trail so that you can
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          2  check whether the machine has properly counted the

          3  ballot by manually counting the ballots if you have

          4  a close election.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And on that

          6  machine, when the voter puts in the ballot, can the

          7  voter see how he voted?

          8                 MR. KELLNER: Yes, because the voter

          9  filled out the ballot.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: No, after he

         11  puts it into the machine and you see with the

         12  ballots?

         13                 MR. KELLNER: That particular machine

         14  doesn't do that, but that is certainly a technology

         15  that some people have recommended.

         16                 For example --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What is to

         18  prevent somebody from taking those paper ballots and

         19  changing it?

         20                 MR. KELLNER: Well, the paper ballots

         21  are in the sealed box under the scanner machine, and

         22  you would have to treat those paper ballots with the

         23  same level of security --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There is no

         25  hole?
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          2                 MR. KELLNER: There is no hole, no.

          3                 And I might add that that is one of

          4  the reasons that we started pushing the Board of

          5  Elections into at least exploring scanning

          6  technology. In three of the boroughs now we use

          7  optical scanning counting the paper ballots,

          8  absentee ballots, affidavit ballots and emergency

          9  ballots. And the system is not foolproof that we are

         10  using in those three boroughs, but we are gaining

         11  experience within the agency on how to operate

         12  scanning systems, and it has dramatically speeded up

         13  the count of the paper ballots in the three boroughs

         14  where it has been used.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Wasn't there

         16  some sort of experiment going on in Staten Island?

         17                 MR. KELLNER: Well, it is now Staten

         18  Island, Queens and Manhattan.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Those are the

         20  --

         21                 MR. KELLNER: Those are the three

         22  boroughs that scan the paper ballots.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Then, Mr.

         24  Chair, I would recommend that this Committee have a

         25  demonstration of that machine some time in the
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          2  future.

          3                 Thank you very much, Mr. Kellner.

          4  Again, on behalf of the Manhattan Delegation, we are

          5  so pleased that you represent us.

          6                 MR. KELLNER: Thank you for your

          7  remarks.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr.

          9  Kellner, first of all, as it relates to the

         10  salaries, if I understand correctly, employees of

         11  the Board of Election are represented by bargaining,

         12  collective bargaining unit that's a part of District

         13  Council 37; am I correct, sir?

         14                 MR. KELLNER: They are IEW. Yes,

         15  International Electrical Workers, but you are

         16  correct that they are unionized.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So, while

         18  you and I certainly could conclude that a

         19  technician, to be competitive you have got to raise

         20  the salaries, I guess that is to be left to the

         21  collective bargaining process.

         22                 MR. KELLNER: If we leave it to the

         23  collective bargaining process, we are going to be in

         24  a position where we just simply can't recruit

         25  adequate personnel, and it is a problem that has to
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          2  be faced.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: The

          4  strengths of the current machines that we use is the

          5  simplicity.

          6                 MR. KELLNER: That's correct.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: When you

          8  consider all of the elections that have been

          9  conducted on those machines, and the percentage of

         10  breakdowns, I think that argues for the upgrading of

         11  the maintenance and continuing using them, as

         12  opposed to exposing ourselves to some of the

         13  problems, and with new fangled machines could

         14  present to us.

         15                 MR. KELLNER: I agree with you, and we

         16  save a lot of money that way. I would just ask that

         17  we still put a few dollars in to change the oil

         18  every now and then so that we keep these machines

         19  working.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All

         21  right.

         22                 Any other questions?

         23                 Council Member Freed.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I can't tell if

         25  that is on. Great.
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          2                 Good morning. I actually had a

          3  question, not much about the machines but about the

          4  election inspectors, and in New York we have fewer

          5  problems with the machines, but we do have some

          6  problems with election inspectors.  Having been a

          7  district leader for quite some time, I experienced

          8  this. There are many recommendations about election

          9  inspectors, and other than the obvious raise the

         10  fee.

         11                 MR. KELLNER: Well, that is the most

         12  important.

         13                 The second thing is to really beef up

         14  the training program and to make a commitment to

         15  training the inspectors.

         16                 Right now they are asked to attend a

         17  two-hour class, they are paid $25 for attending that

         18  class, and it is really not enough time to go

         19  through the complexities, particularly now that we

         20  have the affidavit ballot procedures under the

         21  National Voter Registration Act, so that I think it

         22  is a fair criticism of the Board that the inspectors

         23  are not sufficiently familiar with the rules of that

         24  process to make it go smoothly.

         25                 But, again, the answer is to increase
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          2  the level of training of inspectors in order to

          3  impose that additional burden on the inspectors, in

          4  fairness you have got to compensate them for doing

          5  that training.

          6                 The Commissioners have been pushing

          7  to have a training video made so that we could

          8  provide each inspector with a copy of a video that

          9  they can take home. Also, we can pass out that video

         10  to the local political clubs and other people who

         11  are involved in election day operations so that

         12  everybody knows what the procedures and the rules

         13  are.

         14                 But, again, it is expensive to make

         15  that video, and it is important to say are we going

         16  to set aside a couple of hundred thousand dollars in

         17  order to train the 26,000 election workers that we

         18  have?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I have to say I

         20  agree with you, I mean we all were glad that we

         21  weren't in Florida, and we don't have swinging chads

         22  and all those other chads, but some of the problems

         23  that did come out in some of the hearings that came

         24  out because of the inspectors giving wrong

         25  information, not being adequately trained, not
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          2  having maybe the right outlook, are similar problems

          3  that we continue to have in New York, and I would

          4  have to agree that one of the things we should do is

          5  the people who actually are given the responsibility

          6  for overseeing these elections should be better

          7  trained and better compensated.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 MR. KELLNER: Thank you.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council

         11  Member Foster.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Mr.

         13  Commissioner, do you rotate those machines or are

         14  there certain machines assigned to certain areas in

         15  certain boroughs?

         16                 MR. KELLNER: In general the same

         17  machine goes out to the same election district year

         18  after year.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: I ask that

         20  question because in my district we have so many

         21  machines that don't work at all, they are supposed

         22  to start at 5:00 and 6:00, 10:30, 12:00, 1:00 they

         23  are not working and the same machines are

         24  malfunctioning in that district and more so in my

         25  district than any district in the City.
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          2                 So, if you know they don't work in

          3  the district this year, why send the same machines

          4  back next year?

          5                 MR. KELLNER: You are absolutely

          6  right. You are absolutely right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: That's as bad

          8  as the election they did in Florida, isn't it?

          9                 MR. KELLNER: I think that you are

         10  absolutely right, that that is a flaw, and I could

         11  go into a long list of things that could be done to

         12  address that problem, but you are right that that is

         13  a problem and it needs to be addressed.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Money and

         15  maintenance.

         16                 MR. KELLNER: That's the starting

         17  place.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: In the

         19  meantime, why don't we just switch those machines to

         20  another borough? Bring it to Manhattan down here in

         21  the East Side and see if they won't get them fixed

         22  overnight.

         23                 MR. KELLNER: It's a strategy I have

         24  used with Senator Goodman on some of his technicians

         25  that he has appointed, assign them to his district
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          2  and then we find there is greater attention.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Couldn't the

          4  voters bring a lawsuit against the Board for doing

          5  it?

          6                 It's deliberate. If they know a

          7  machine has not worked for year after year in the

          8  same area, they have to know that, so once they

          9  deliver it, they couldn't just do that accidently,

         10  they have a whole year.

         11                 MR. KELLNER: Councilman, I could

         12  agree with you more. The frustrations that I have

         13  had as one commissioner in dealing with that problem

         14  are great. I know that even in my own borough where

         15  I do have some influence over what goes on, it's

         16  been very difficult to get the technicians to even

         17  keep a log by machine of machine breakdowns so that

         18  a simple maintenance practice of saying, look, if

         19  this machine has had breakdown six times in the last

         20  six years, then the machine needs to be overhauled

         21  or at least let's analyze what the problem is and

         22  correct it. And, frankly, the resources have not

         23  been there to do that.

         24                 But I couldn't agree with you more

         25  and I think that we may well be looking at
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          2  litigation, where the Board of Elections and the

          3  City are forced to address these problems

          4  particularly after this new Supreme Court decision

          5  that will have very far reaching ramifications for

          6  election administration, if in fact the district and

          7  Circuit Courts of Appeals take it seriously.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Are you

         11  saying that no log or record of breakdowns and

         12  maintenance problems are kept of any of the

         13  machines?

         14                 MR. KELLNER: Not from year to year.

         15  And the Commissioners have voted several times to

         16  make such a log --

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That's

         18  Mr. DeFrancesco, that's a management tool that

         19  should not be permitted to be ignored or not used. A

         20  management.

         21                 MR. KELLNER: Councilman, you are

         22  absolutely right. And I can say that the

         23  Commissioners on at least three occasions have voted

         24  instructions to do that, but the staffing has been

         25  inadequate in order to carry it out.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All

          3  right. Thank you, Mr. Kellner.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I had one

          5  question for him.

          6                 I was wondering if you were

          7  cooperating with Senator Schumer and the

          8  Congressional Commission that is looking into the

          9  new election --

         10                 MR. KELLNER: He has not contacted us

         11  yet about any of his proposals. I know that

         12  Congressman Nadler, who is --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I would

         14  recommend that you do.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We have

         16  one quick question to Mr. Kellner from Mrs. Freed,

         17  then we are going to have a roll call.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Can I have my

         19  vote taken now?

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sure.

         21  Stanley has to go and meet with the Mayor and he has

         22  requested his name be called.

         23                 Yours as well. Claude, if you will

         24  call Council Member Michels, O'Donovan, and Eisland

         25  and Berman. They are satisfied with the others.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Berman.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BERMAN: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Eisland.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER EISLAND: I would just

          6  like to take the opportunity to mention a welcome

          7  once again and a thanks to Crystal Paris for being

          8  willing to serve another term. She has served with

          9  distinction and availability, which is

         10  extraordinarily important to everybody, but

         11  particularly to those of us in the Bronx, and I

         12  would like to vote aye on all of the matters.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 ACTING PUBLIC ADVOCATE SPIGNER: Thank

         15  you.

         16                 Thank you, Mr. Kellner.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: O'Donovan.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER O'DONOVAN: Aye. Thank

         19  you, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 Congratulations to all, and Staten

         21  Island Commissioner Mark Herman.

         22                 ACTING PUBLIC ADVOCATE SPIGNER:

         23  Council Member Freed.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you.

         25  Sorry about this.
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          2                 What I wanted to ask about, though,

          3  was the different language ballots and where we are

          4  with that? Because I understood that there have

          5  still been some problems, in some of the Chinese

          6  language ballots, and not so much in Lower

          7  Manhattan, but perhaps out in Flushing and some of

          8  the other language ballots like Korean.

          9                 MR. KELLNER: Well, the actual

         10  language problem, first of all, for the benefit of

         11  the other Council members, there is a portion of the

         12  Federal Voting Rights Act which provides that when

         13  you have a significant number of persons whose

         14  primary language is other than English, than the

         15  location Board of Elections is required to provide

         16  all written materials in that language.

         17                 Right now New York City is a covered

         18  jurisdiction with respect to Spanish and Chinese and

         19  when the 2000 Census is officially published

         20  everyone indicates that Korean will be added and

         21  there is a strong possibility that Russian will also

         22  be added.

         23                 So that we may actually have to go to

         24  five languages.

         25                 Right now the Board of Elections does
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          2  not have a single person on staff who is fluent in

          3  Chinese, so that all of the Chinese written

          4  materials are contracted out, and, again, the Board

          5  is making a proposal in this budget to at least to

          6  put two persons on the staff who would be able to

          7  perform those functions in house, but there have

          8  been substantial criticism from the Chinese

          9  community that the quality of the translation has

         10  been poor, and it is very difficult -- I confess

         11  that I have no ability to monitor or to review that

         12  and the Board needs to have competent staff who can

         13  do that and to reach out and work with the Chinese

         14  community in advance to review these materials so

         15  that they are satisfactory.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Well, as you

         17  know, that is an area that I have been very involved

         18  with, and, yes, I think this last time, because one

         19  of the translators didn't know there was a

         20  difference between Democrat and Republican and there

         21  was a screw up. So, these things are a problem, and

         22  how are these -- we also went over the machines

         23  before, but how are the machines going to be adapted

         24  to, in a large election, to use these

         25  multi-languages?
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          2                 MR. KELLNER: We will have to look at

          3  that. It may have to be looked at from a race by

          4  race situation. If the machines are not large enough

          5  to handle multi-languages, the law does permit the

          6  extra language to go on paper ballot.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Of course, you

          8  know you will get complaints about that.

          9                 MR. KELLNER: That's right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: If it really

         11  meets the Voting Rights Act and the other decisions.

         12                 MR. KELLNER: That's right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, thank

         14  you.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

         16  you, Mr. Kellner.

         17                 Crystal Paris.

         18                 MS. PARIS: Good morning. I must say

         19  at the outset that I am very pleased to have this

         20  opportunity to be before you this time because when

         21  I was fortunate enough to be nominated and appointed

         22  by this body, it was a short ten-day, 12-day

         23  process. I am very glad to be before you and perhaps

         24  have our opportunity to answer any questions that

         25  you might have of me.
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          2                 My fellow Commissioner Kellner did

          3  indicate a lot of concerns that we as an entire body

          4  --

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Excuse me

          6  for the distraction.

          7                 MS. PARIS: No problem. Good morning.

          8                 As I said, fellow Commissioner

          9  Kellner did address a lot of the issues that we as a

         10  body of Commissioners are very concerned about, as

         11  far as the operation of the Board of Elections,

         12  which in certain administrative matters that we are

         13  concerned about we are nonpartisan. The

         14  administration of the electoral process is very

         15  important and we would like to have the tools and

         16  the mandate to move things forward. So, I hope that

         17  the issues that were brought up will be taken up

         18  respectively in the future, because as you know, we

         19  are coming into 2001 and I think we need to do all

         20  of our house cleaning and housekeeping now so we

         21  don't replicate things that have happened in other

         22  states and other cities.

         23                 I, myself, am pleased now to have the

         24  opportunity to tell you what my concerns have been

         25  and my area of interest in functioning as a
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          2  Commissioner representing the Bronx County, and that

          3  is the voters, the electorate.

          4                 Fortunately, because of NVRA, we have

          5  an overwhelming number of newly registered voters,

          6  and as I have often said when I have spoken in

          7  various public events and to school children,

          8  because I like to represent myself as an election

          9  commissioner, so that the young people understand

         10  that the electoral process here in our City is

         11  something that is alive and something that is real,

         12  and I stand before them to represent that.

         13                 But when they become 18 years of age,

         14  and they register to vote or you are a new citizen

         15  and registered to vote, you are not born with

         16  knowing what to do with that franchise, and I think

         17  that the opportunity for us as commissioners needs

         18  to be expanded to educate, and that is my personal

         19  interest in being a commissioner, and I hope that

         20  you would approve my moving forward in the next four

         21  years so that I can further do what I see needs to

         22  be done, and particularly the door, I should say the

         23  pandoras box has been opened because of Florida, so

         24  now there is a great grassroots interest in what the

         25  devil is going on and what is this all about, and I
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          2  think we should all be prepared at any and every

          3  moment to be able to educate the populous on exactly

          4  what is needed and why it is needed, so that is my

          5  little area of deep concern, and what I like to move

          6  forward on.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

          8  you, Ms. Paris.

          9                 You have been on the Board four years

         10  already, correct?

         11                 MS. PARIS: Yes. Well, 1997, three.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Three

         13  years. You heard Council Member Foster's concern

         14  about what he feels is an unusual consistent --

         15                 MS. PARIS: Yes.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER:-- Pattern

         17  of malfunctioning machines in his district, I am

         18  sure that he would appreciate you using whatever --

         19                 MS. PARIS: I took very close note of

         20  what he said and I have to candidly admit that I did

         21  not know you had a precise problem. We do have a

         22  procedure of logging the machines when they are

         23  being maintained and when they are certified for

         24  use. And I know that in Bronx County we held back

         25  about 20 machines that were inoperable, so when the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  machines that you received went into the truck and

          3  out the door, they had been signed off as operating.

          4  And I am sorry to hear that you had such a large

          5  number that were not operating, and I will

          6  personally see you get some decent ones.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Commissioner,

          8  first of all, congratulations.

          9                 MS. PARIS: Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: You have done

         11  a good job.

         12                 It has been a pattern over the years.

         13  Concourse is the largest voting block in that area

         14  in the County Court House. If you check those

         15  locations, you will discover that some of those

         16  machines are open as late as one or two o'clock in

         17  the afternoon because they couldn't get them to

         18  operate. In other areas they malfunction, and the

         19  point I am making is that they have been reported,

         20  when we can get through, the problem on Election

         21  Day, even they give you hot line numbers to call,

         22  you can hardly get through.

         23                 MS. PARIS: I am very concerned about

         24  that issue in general, in not only Bronx County but

         25  also -- I will just stick to Bronx County, because I
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          2  go out all day and all evening and when I walk into

          3  a polling site, I am dismayed that the election

          4  coordinators, because they are in charge of that

          5  site, do not have easy access to communicating.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I think

          7  they are paid $200 a day, if I am not mistaken.

          8                 MS. PARIS: Yes. They take their jobs

          9  seriously and they would like to be able to have

         10  immediate contact and I think they should with the

         11  Board of Elections office.

         12                 I have not been able to have the

         13  powers that be authorize funding for cell phones for

         14  that day, and I think that would solve a lot of

         15  problems, even immediate problems, knowing the

         16  machine is down, quick action is what should be

         17  because those people are the ones on the front line

         18  that day. And when I walk in and they ask me if I

         19  can use my cell phone or where is the nearest phone,

         20  or thank God you walked in here and they give you a

         21  list of problems, I don't think that is correct for

         22  operating a good system on an election day.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you. And

         24  I appreciate you looking into that.

         25                 MS. PARIS: I will definitely.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: It's been a

          3  pattern in certain areas.

          4                 MS. PARIS: I am going to look at it

          5  and I will see what I can do.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank

          9  you, Ms. Paris.

         10                 MS. PARIS: Thank you.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All

         12  right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Gee, we are

         14  giving you guys a tough time today. Everything

         15  should be that easy.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Can we

         17  have come to the witness table Nancy Shacher, as

         18  Republican of Kings County.

         19                 Ms. Shacher, will you take the table,

         20  please. Take a seat, and any statement concerning

         21  your candidacy.

         22                 MS. SHACHER: Thank you. I am so

         23  delighted to be here this morning, and I am simply

         24  overwhelmed and over-awed at all that has been said

         25  and done, and certainly they are considerations that
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          2  must be met.

          3                 Referable to me, you have my resume,

          4  but if you would like me to touch on certain points

          5  I will. I am a member of the bar, State of New York,

          6  and I was sworn in at the United States Supreme

          7  Court. I sat as a Worker's Compensation law judge

          8  for 25 years. I have been involved in my community.

          9  I am a member of the Board of Directors of COAC,

         10  that is the Coalition on Adoptable Children. I give

         11  a lot of my time to the St. Joseph Innis Home for

         12  Homeless Men.

         13                 My background before becoming a

         14  judge, I was a practicing attorney, I was a law

         15  secretary to Judge Selviaro. I edited quite a few

         16  books in law school for Dean Emeritus Mr. Whittney.

         17  I am a widow.

         18                 I am so delighted that I was selected

         19  to serve my citizenry in New York City. I will do

         20  the best I can with the knowledge and background

         21  that I have.

         22                 I have a labor background too. I have

         23  lectured to certain unions referable to workers

         24  compensation, I am going over the lot.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That's
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          2  good.

          3                 MS. SHACHER: And I will be happy to

          4  answer any questions you have of me.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Any

          6  questions?

          7                 Well, then, Ms. Shacher, I am going

          8  to thank you for your testimony, and I am going to

          9  at this time adjourn.

         10                 Council Member Ognibene has a

         11  question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Ms. Shacher,

         13  we haven't had the opportunity to meet. One of the

         14  things that we attempt to do in this legislative

         15  body is to protect the interest not only of the

         16  people of this City of New York, but also when it

         17  comes to the Board of Elections, to the political

         18  interests of our party. That is why you have five

         19  commissioners from each county and each one

         20  Republican and one each Democrat, and this Council,

         21  in order to ensure that there is a protection built

         22  in, ordinarily we select the Commissioners after the

         23  County Chairman from each committee goes to the

         24  respective caucuses and advises them of who their

         25  choice is and why that choice is and gives them an
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          2  opportunity to make that evaluation.

          3                 I must say to you that your County

          4  Chairman never, never contacted our caucus to

          5  recommend you. It's unfortunate that he didn't.

          6  However, I have spoken to the two Council members

          7  who serve your area, that is Mr. James Oddo who

          8  serves both Brooklyn and Staten Island and Mr. Marty

          9  Golden, and they have advised me that under the

         10  circumstances and what they know about your

         11  background that they would not be adverse to your

         12  appointment as a Commissioner of the Board of

         13  Elections.

         14                 The only reason that I bring that up

         15  is that I wanted to be clear to my fellow colleagues

         16  at the Council and on this Committee and to the

         17  leadership where we had an agreement, that your

         18  appointment is as a result of the acquiescence of

         19  the Republican members of this City Council, and not

         20  directly through the City Council, and that in the

         21  future you should be made aware that your County

         22  Chairman, although I won't be here there will be

         23  others and other minority leaders, that unless your

         24  county chairman wishes to follow the understanding

         25  that we have, that it is not likely that there would
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          2  be a reappointment.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MS. SHACHER: I will bring that to his

          5  attention.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 The only thing I can say in his

          8  defense, that he did select me and ask me to run if

          9  I would. I am so sorry that he didn't get back to

         10  you.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, we

         12  are going to recess. Members of the Commission, you

         13  are excused. We are going to recess until we have

         14  further discussions on some open issues, and we will

         15  reconvene in a very, very short time, or before the

         16  Stated Meeting.

         17                 MS. SHACHER: Do you wish to wait?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: I talked to

         19  Jimmy Oddo. I just wanted to make my point clear on

         20  the record that the reason that this Council is

         21  supporting this candidacy is because the minority

         22  members delegation of the City Council have agreed

         23  to it, and this is not wholly through the Committee.

         24  This Committee had the authority to postpone this

         25  meeting, which would have obviated the appointment
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          2  by the County Chairman, and would have given the

          3  authority wholly back to the Republican Delegation

          4  of the City Council. We are not going to go through

          5  that process, because I have spoken to my Republican

          6  members of your county and they have agreed and

          7  acquiesced in your appointment.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Now, am I

          9  to understand, Mr. Leader of the Republicans

         10  Minority in the Council, that you do agree to the

         11  appointment?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: That's

         13  correct. And I vote yes.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

         15                 Based on that, let's continue the

         16  roll call, Mr. Clerk.

         17                 Now, there is also a Land Use item

         18  on.

         19                 Counsel Harvey, will you identify

         20  yourself for the record.

         21                 MR. FERTIG: Harvey Fertig, Counsel to

         22  the Rules Committee.

         23                 This is an amendment to the Land Use

         24  section of our rules. A resolution amending rule

         25  11.20 of the rules to provide that all applications
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          2  submitted to the Council pursuant to Article 16 of

          3  the General Municipal Law shall be subject to a

          4  public hearing with 150 days of submission.

          5                 The reason in the memo in support is

          6  that in August 23rd of the Year 2000, Governor

          7  Pataki signed into law an amendment to Section 695

          8  to the General Municipal Law. The amendment provides

          9  that if no action is taken on an application

         10  pursuant to article 16 within 150 days of the

         11  application being submitted to the Council, the

         12  application shall be deemed approved.

         13                 This way the Council retains

         14  authority to approve or disapprove an application

         15  with the 150 days and this is why we are mandating

         16  that there be a public hearing within the 150 days.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, so

         18  we are going to couple resolution No. 1639, which

         19  was just explained by Harvey Fertig, Counsel to the

         20  Rules and Privileges Committee, and a senior member

         21  of the Council staff, so some members have already

         22  voted, Mr. Clerk, will you continue the roll call on

         23  the names nominated, Weyman Carey, Mark Herman,

         24  Douglas A. Kellner, Crystal Paris and Nancy Shacher.

         25                 Continue the roll call, please. And
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          2  Land Use item No. 1639.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Spigner.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Foster.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Wooten.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WOOTEN: Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Freed.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Ognibene.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote stands

         14  at nine in the affirmative and is still open.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We will

         16  leave it open for the Speaker who is delayed with

         17  other business.

         18                 Then this meeting is adjourned.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 12:04 p.m.)

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25
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          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 19th day of December 2000.
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                                   ---------------------
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         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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